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Foject v. Buckley Recycle Center Inc

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
WESTERN DISTRICT OF WAHINGTON AT SEATTLE

BUCKLEY RECYCLE CENTER, INC.,

Defendant.

[. INTRODUCTION

ORDER -1

WASTE ACTION PROJECT, a non-profit
corporation, No. 2:13-cv-01184RSM
Plaintiff, ORDER ON PENDING MOTIONS
V.

This matter comes before the Court on s first and second Motion for Leave
to File First and Second Amended and Suppleéat€omplaints (Dkt. ## 13, 29); Plaintiff’s
first and second Motion for DiscoveryCIR 37 Joint Submission (Dkt. ## 14, 30); and
Defendants’ Motion for Summagdudgment (Dkt. # 22). For the reasons that follow, the
motions for leave to amend will be grasit¢he first LCR 37 Joint Submission will be
deferred pending receipt of additional bmefj the second LCR 37 Joint Submission will b

granted in part, and the motifor summary judgment will be déeed with leave to renew.
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[I. BACKGROUND

This is a Clean Water Act (“CWA”) citen suit brought by Plaintiff Waste Action
Project (“WAP”) under seatn 505 of the CWA, 33 U.S.®@.1365. WAP alleges that
Defendant Buckley Recycling Center, IftBRC”) violated the CWA by discharging
pollutants, without authorizatn, from an industrial and matesatorage facility located in
King County, Washington. WAP provided BRC noticatsfintent to sue by letter dated M4
3, 2013. The CWA requires that citizen plaintipi®vide notice to potential defendants of
the alleged violation and their intent to fileiizen suit at least sixty days before filing the
complaint. 33 U.S.C. 8§ 1365(b). WAP actedhotordance with the notice requirement ang
filed suit on July 8, 2013.

After receiving initial discovery ancbnducting a site visit on December 17, 2013,

WAP sought leave to amend and supplemenbtlggnal complaint tanclude additional

Ly

=

CWA violations. WAP stated that the new at&i concerned “alleged unpermitted discharges

of pollutants, including leachate and processtewater, from the [BRC] facility and from
particular structures or feats constructed on the facility to adjacent ditches via direct
hydrological connection”; “allegedischarges of fill materiab wetlands and the adjacent
ditches without a permit from the Uniteca&ts Army Corps of Engineers under CWA
Section 404, 33 U.S.C. § 1344”; and “the jdiability of RonaldShear, the individual
responsible for controlling BRC, Inc.’s operatsofor all alleged CWA violations.” Dkt. #
29, p. 4. WAP sent BRC and Mr. Shear notidtels informing them of its intent to
incorporate the additional allegattis into the current lawsubeeDkt. # 13-1, pp. 37-59, 611
65. WAP then filed its first motion to amend prto the date that the sixty-day notice perid

expired.SeeDkt. # 13.
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BRC opposed WAP's first motion to ameaowl the basis that the Court lacked
jurisdiction to consider the amendments ueibiration of the noticperiod. Dkt. # 19. After
making that argument, and despite knowing W&tP sought to add addbnal allegations in
light of ongoing factual discovery, BRC filea motion for summary judgment seeking
dismissal of the original complaint. In itsidfing, BRC proclaimed that “BRC is entitled to
ruling on the Complaint asigially pled.” Dkt. # 28, p. 2. BRC’s motion was supported
only by the declaration Ronahear, who is BRC’s operations manager and the individu
that WAP sought leave to joas an additional defenda®eeDkt. # 23. BRC’s motion was
filed on January 29, 2014, about five and a hadhths before the scheduled close of
discovery. Dkt. # 22.

WAP opposed the motion on several groundtuding an argument that the motion
was subject to denial underd=dR. Civ. 56(d), and it moved to strike Shear’s declaration
improper expert opinion testimonly.also requested the Court to direct BRC to show cau
why BRC should not be sanctioned under FRedCiv. P. 56(h) for filing a bad faith

declaration in support of its motion. Dkt. # 24.

WAP filed a second motion seeking leavaionend its complaint and join additionaj

defendants on March 27, 2014. The new amendneentern an alleged violation of Sectia

4005(a) of the Resource Conservation arddRery Act (“RCRA"), as amended, 42 U.S.C.

8 6945(a), for operating an open dump. The RGIRA imposes a sixty-day notice period
under 42 U.S.C. 8 6972(b)(1)(A), and although Ws&Pved notice of the claims to the BR
and additional potential defdants on or about March 12014, WAP’s second motion was
filed in advance of the end of the et period. BRC did not, however, oppose WAP’s

second motion for leave to amend.
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[ll. DISCUSSION
A. WAP’s First and Second Motion to Amend

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 15(a)(2)edits a court to grateave to amend if
justice so requires. “A distt court should grant leave gomend...unless it determines tha
the pleading could not gsibly be cured by the afjation of other facts.Lacey v. Maricopa,
693 F.3d 896, 926 (9th Cir. 2012). In other wofdsguests for leave to amend should be
granted with extreme liberality...Mirmehdi v. United State§89 F.3d 975, 985 (9th Cir.
2012).

For a Rule 15(a) motion, the non-moving party bears the burden of persuading
court that leavetwould not be grante@®reakdown Services, Ltd. v. Now Casting,,IB&0 F.
Supp. 2d 1123, 1132 (C.D. Cal 2007) (citd@D Programs, Ltd. v. Leighto®33 F.2d 183,
186-87 (9th Cir. 1987). The court considers tHm¥ang five factors in its analysis when
leave to amend is requested: (1) bad faithu(@lue delay, (3) preglice to opposing party,
(4) futility of amendment, and (5) whethithe complaint was previously amendedited

States v. Corinthian College665 F.3d 984, 995 (9th Cir. 201Qrdinarily, there is a

the

presumption that leave to amend should betgthabsent a strong showing of one of the fijve

factors.Eminence Capitol, LLC v. Aspeon, In816 F.3d 1048, 1052 (9th Cir. 2003).

As an initial matter, the sixty day nogéi period has now expired for the allegations
asserted in both the proposed First Awaed Complaint and the proposed Second Amend
Complaint.SeeDkt. # 29-1, 1 6 (alleging first arsecond supplemental notice letters were

served on January 2, 2014), falleging RCRA notice lettawas served on March 11, 2014

BRC challenged the first motion to amend ondheund that the Court lacked jurisdiction to

consider WAP’s proposed amendments mpidoexpiration of the CWA notice period.
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Because the sixty-day period has expired, BRisdictional chdénge is now moot.
Similarly, the sixty day notice period has aésgired for the alleged RCRA violations suclp
that WAP’s second motion seeking leavetoend is properly before the Court. As
previously noted, BRC does not oppose Wa&econd motion for leave to amend.

BRC did not offer a substantive challengeiiher motion, nor has it claimed that it
has cured any of the allegeahtions. BRC has failed to agds the Rule 15(a) factors and
there is no evidence from which the Court cocbnclude that the requested amendments
were sought in bad faith or were theguct of undue delay, or that amendment will
prejudice BRC. Having considered the netand found no reason why leave to amend

should not be given, the Cogntants WAP’s first and secomdotions for leave to amend.

1%

The second motion for leave to amend alseks an eight month continuance of thg
trial date and other scheduling deadlines. BRE not opposed this request. “A [scheduling
order] may be modified only for good cause aiiith the judge’s consent.” Fed. R. Civ. P.
16(b)(4). The Court finds good cause to extdreddeadlines in this case considering the
factually-intensive nature ®WAP’s new allegations as well #se inclusion of additional
defendants to the action. Accordingly, WAP’s resjue continue the trial schedule will alsp
be granted.

B. BRC’s Motion for Summary Judgment

In its motion for summary judgment, BRC argued that WAP’s claims fail as a matter
of law because there is no discrete conmegaof surface water gie BRC facility that
would constitute a point-source discharge ratpd by the CWA. WAP contends that therg
are numerous CWA-regulated point sources at the BRC site and that WAP’s experts

observed the ongoing discharge of water poltltants. Although the record contains

ORDER -5




© 00 N o g A~ W N P

N NN NN NN P P P P P PP P PR
o 00 A W N P O © 0 N o o »h W N P O

competing factual testimony on these issM¢A8P has been given leave to amend its
complaint. Thus, the motion for summary judgment is premature.

Under Rule 56(d), if the nonmoving partyhtsvs by affidavit or declaration that, fo
specified reasons, it cannot present facts assémjustify its opposition, the court may: (1
defer considering the motion or deny it; (2) allbrue to obtain affidavits or declarations o
to take discovery; or (3) isewany other appropriate order.”d=dR. Civ. P. 56(d). “To prevai

under this Rule, parties opposiagnotion for summary judgmentust make ‘(a) a timely

application which (b) specificalligentifies (c) relevant inforation, (d) where there is som¢

basis for believing that the imimation sought actually exists Emp'rs Teamsters Local No
175 & 505 Pension Trust Fund v. Clor®§3 F.3d 1125, 1129 (9th Cir. 2004) (quotii$A
Int'l Serv. Ass'n v. Bankcard Holders of Aii84 F.2d 1472, 1475 (9th Cir. 1986)). Rule
56(d) “provides a device for litigants te@d summary judgment when they have not had
sufficient time to develop affirmative evidencélhited States v. Kitsap Physicians Serv.,
314 F.3d 995, 1000 (9th Cir.2002). A Rule 56f@ntinuance of a motion for summary
judgment for purposes of discovery should be gr@almost as a matter of course unless
non-moving party has not diligenthursued discovery of the evidencBuirlington N. Santa
Fe R.R. Co. v. The Assiniboine & Siduibes of the Fort Peck Reservati@23 F.3d 767,
773-74 (9th Cir. 2003) (internal qutitan marks and citations omittedee also Metabolife
Int'l, Inc. v. Wornick264 F.3d 832, 846 (9th Cir. 2001) (tAbugh Rule 56][d] facially giveg
judges the discretion to disallow discovery when the non-moving party cannot yet subr
evidence supporting its opposition, the SupremerChas restated the rule as requiring,

rather than merely permitting, discovémhere the nonmoving party has not had the
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opportunity to discover information thigtessential to its opposition.™ (citingnderson v.
Liberty Lobby, Inc.477 U.S. 242, 250 n.5 (1986)).

Here, WAP’s proffered declarations staygiate a need for further discovery
particularly in light of tle proposed pleading amendme®seDkt. ## 25-27. It contends
that an additional site visit will allow its expe to confirm the preser of wetlands subject
to the CWA'’s jurisdiction, and to provide eeigce of discharges from point sources into
CWA jurisdictional waters. It also believes aaiditional site visit will allow its hydrology
expert to obtain evidence thaill controvert the stateménmade by Mr. Shear in his
declaration. Further, BRC’s summary judgmenation is premature because no depositio
have been conducted. Dkt. # 27, Smith D&el. WAP believes that deposition testimony
and cross examination of BRC’s witnesses, indgdvr. Shear, will allow it to explore and
controvert the assertions and opinion$wf Shear that BRC relies on to support its
summary judgment motiotsee id-There is no indication, argument by BRC, that WAP
has been dilatory in obtaining the necesskisgovery. The Court finds that WAP’s Rule
56(d) request is timely, specifibaidentifies relevant informi@on, and it provides a basis fa
believing that the information actually exisE&np’rs Teamsters353 F.3d at 1129.
Accordingly, WAP’s request is granted, athé motion for summarjdgment is denied
with leave to renew after the close of discovery.

C. WAP’s Motion to Strike the Shear Declaration

As the Court has denied BRC’s motion fonsuary judgment, it declines to consid
the motion to strike Mr. Shear’s supportideclaration. Should BRC rely on Mr. Shear’s
declaration in a future motion, the Court willnsidder WAP’s motion to strike at that time.

D. LCR 37 Joint Submissions

ORDER -7
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WAP’s Requests for Production Numbers 26 and 27 and BRC'’s
Responses

Request for Production No. 26

Produceyourfinal, balance sheets for each year from 2008 through the
present.

Response:

Objection. This Request is not reasonable calculated to lead to the
discovery of admissible evidence, is overbroad, and unduly burdensome.
BRC will supplement this answer, if necessary, after an appropriate
motion for summary judgment.

Request for Production No. 27

Produceyourfinal, profit andloss statements for each year from 2008
through the present.

Response:

Objection. This Request is not reasonable calculated to lead to the
discovery of admissible evidence, is overbroad, and unduly burdensome.
BRC will supplement this answer, if necessary, after an appropriate
motion for summary judgment.

Dkt. # 14, p. 2.

WAP contends that BRC'’s financial docurteare relevant to (1) determining an

appropriate civil penalty undsection 1319(d) of the CWAnd (2) the Court’'s assessmen
of appropriate equitablelref. BRC opposes WAP’s motion, btite Joint CR 37 submissior
did not include BRC’s argument in oppositi@eeDkt. # 14, p. 8 (“WAP has not received
response from BRC, Inc.”). On the datattthe LCR 37 joint submission was filed, BRC
filed a “Response to the CR 3@int Submission.” Dkt. # 16. Therein, BRC requested leg|
to file a substantive respaso WAP’s motion, and it stadl that BRC’s counsel “was
unaware that BRC's portion of the ‘joint motion’ was due on any particular ddtat p. 1.
It also stated that BRC’s counswitified WAP three days prido the day that WAP filed the
joint submission that he had been ouksaand would providBRC’s opposition argument

ORDER - 8
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within a few daysld. WAP then filed a “Responsive Brief’ to BRC'’s “Response” arguing
that BRC'’s request to file a substive argument should be denied.

Local Civil Rule 37(a)(2) establishes #rimits for supplying an opposition when
utilizing the expedited joint poedure. The rule plainly statdsat “[w]ithin seven days of
receipt of the LCR 37 submission from thewimg party, the opposing party shall serve a
rebuttal to the moving party’s position for eaufithe disputed discovery requests identifie
in the motion.” LCR 37(a)(2)(C). The rule further provides “[i]f the opposing party fails {
respond, the moving party may file the LCR 8bmission with the court and state that no
response was receivedd.

Although WAP followed this procedure,hiad notice that BRC’s counsel intended
submit its opposition “within a few days.” Rathéan seek to refine the time frame for
submitting a response or remind BRC’s counsat the responsive argument was due on
certain date, WAP chose tibefthe joint submission wibut BRC'’s portion. That decision
lead to both BRC and WAP filing additional ey, which is at odds with LCR 37’s “joint’
and “expedited” procedure.

Refereeing an escalating game of procaldi@otcha” is not an economical use of
judicial resources and the taal maneuvers espoused bylbparties to date raise the
specter of procedural gamesmanship. Becdasisions on the merits are favored, BRC is
directed to file a substantivesponse to the joint submissiathin seven (7) days of this
Order. Should WAP choose to file a reply brieghall be due within four (4) days of
receiving BRC'’s response.

WAP’s second LCR 37 motion concetthe following discovery request:

ORDER -9
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A. Request for Entry & Response

WAP issued the following request for entry to BRC:

Defendant Buckley Recycle Centére. is requested pursuant to
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 26 and 34 to permit Plaintiff to enter
onto Buckley Recycle Center Incpgsoperty, or property it controls,
which is the subject dhis litigation and loated at or about 28225

West Valley Highway S., Aubuat Washington, 98001, to inspect,
photograph, video tape, test, sample and measure areas of the
properties, and discharges of polhitatherefrom. Plaintiff intends to
collect samples of water, soil, vegetation, and stockpiled material from
multiple areas of the property.i8ple collection will involve digging
using hand tools, including a showald auger. Plaintiff intends to
photograph and videotape the areathefproperty, including the areas
where it collects water, soil, getation, and stockpiled material
samples, the perimeter of the property, and off-site areas visible from
the property.

Those present will include Plaintiffgtorney(s), representative(s), and
expert(s). Plaintiff's experts méanclude experts in wetland ecology,
hydrology, or other environmental sciences.

This inspection may take approximately six hours, as required.
Plaintiff requests entry on May 8, or 8, 2014, at 10:30 a.m. or such
other time or day on which the parties mutually agree.

BRC objected to the request for entry as follows:

Buckley Recycle Center, In(:'BRC") objects to Waste Action
Project’s (“WAP?”) third request twisit the Site. BRC has made the
Site available on two prior occasions at WAP’s request for the purpose
of sampling and testing by WAP’s gart witnesses. WAP has failed to
identify why it could not conduct éhrequested sampling and testing
on either of the two prior Site visi which were for the same stated
purpose. A third request is undulyrdensome. Moreover, it appears
that the testing relates to claimsatinave not yet been approved by the
Court for addition to this lawsuitherefore, any testing and sampling
in furtherance of the proposed claims is premature. BRC will
reconsider this request upon a vakbwing of necessity and if, and
after, the Court approves the pendingtions to amend the Complaint.

Dkt. # 30, pp. 4-5.

As explained by BRC, WAP has visited the BRg sn two previous occasions. WAP states

that although it inspected the site on Decaniye 2013 and March 11, 2014 “it did not rai
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during either inspection.” “The primary purpasethe third site inspection is to document
discharges from the site and receiving watiuring a different season and under different
weather conditions than WAP obsenading the first two site visitsId. at p. 2. BRC
argues that WAP failed to condube testing it now seeks two prior visits, and WAP
never expressed to BRC that the weather comditituring the prior sites visits were not
optimal.

The Court conducted a telephonic hearittlp the parties on Friday, May 9, 2014.
Counsel for WAP agreed that the optimal ctiods for conducting a third site visit would
occur during a period of activeqmipitation. The Court noted thtte forecast called for dry
conditions on the requested day (the upognMonday). The Court then denied WAP’s
request for a site visit on Monday, May 12, 20ddwever, as the Court has now ruled on
WAP’s motions to amend and agrees &P should have an opportunity to conduct
additional discovery to support its proposed adesl claims, a third site visit during a peric
of active precipitation is warnged. Accordingly, the Court grants WAP’s motion to comp

in part’ WAP is directed to givBRC five calendar days’ notider entry onto the BRC site

during a period where the weatHerecast calls for precipitation. BRC is directed to permijt

entry of WAP’s attorneys, repsentatives, and experts on dsifity for approximately six
hours. The site visit is to lmnducted no later than June 15, 2014.
IVV. CONCLUSION
Having considered the motions, the respomsekreplies theretthe declarations an

attached exhibits, and thel@ace of the record, the Court hereby finds and ORDERS:

! Although the Court has granted WAP’s motion to conipgart, because it had not yet ruled on the pendir
motions to amend and BRC’s motion for summary judgment, it finds that BRC’s opposition to a third sitqg
was substantially justifie®eeFed. R. Civ. P. 37(a)(5)(A)(ii).

ORDER - 11
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ORDER - 12

(1) Plaintiff’'s Motion for Leave to Fild=irst Amended & Supplemental Complaint
(Dkt. # 13) is GRANTED;

(2) Plaintiff’'s Motion for Discovery CR37 Joint Submission (Dkt. # 14) is
DEFERRED pending receipt of further briefing;

(3) Defendant is directed to file a Resgerto Dkt. # 14 within seven (7) days;

(4) Defendant’s Motion for Summgadudgment (Dkt. # 22) is DENIED with leave to
renew after the close of discovery;

(5) Plaintiff's unopposed Second Motion foeave to File Second Amended and
Supplemental Complaint and Motion to@inue Trial Schedule (Dkt. # 29) is
GRANTED and a new scheduling ordeill be issued shortly;

(6) Plaintiff’'s Joint Motion for Discovery.CR 37 Joint Submission (Dkt. # 30) is

GRANTED IN PART as discussed above.

DATED this 15" day of May 2014.

(B

RICARDO S. MARTINEZ
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE




